D.A.4794 DF7

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

I	וַ עַ יַ	ا با	\Box $oldsymbol{1}$	J
	SID	J. WI	HPE	/(
	WAN	26	1994	
CLE	RK, SU	PREM	IE CO	URE
Bv_				<u> </u>
-,-	Chief I	Deputy	Clerk	

TT ASTROASTO		
FLANIGAN'S	ENTERPRISES.	INC

Petitioner,

VS.

CASE NO.: 81,563 5TH DCA NO.: 92-104

BARNETT BANK OF NAPLES, et al.,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

Richard E. Whitaker, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 547220 5127 Andrea Blvd. Orlando, Florida 32807 (407) 277-6564 Attorney for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Petitioner, Flanigan's Enterprises, Inc., will be called Flanigan. The Respondent, Barnett Bank of Naples, Inc., will be called Barnett.

References to pages of the record will be designated by (R.____) and in the case of exhibits by (Ex.____), with the respective page number of the record or exhibit shown. References to the appendix will be designated by (A.____) with the tab number shown.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a decision of the appellate court which affirmed the final judgment of the circuit court denying Flanigan recovery against Barnett under section 818.01, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1983).

On August 20, 1985, Flanigan filed a three-count complaint against Barnett, among others, Count I of which was an action against Barnett for unlawful conversion. (R.186-217). The other counts of the complaint were directed to the remaining Defendants. Count I alleged that Barnett had unlawfully converted a 4-C0P Beverage Liquor License, license no. 58-312 ("the Liquor License") by selling it to Hickory Point Industries, Inc. ("Hickory Point"). (R.187-195). Flanigan alleged an interest in the Liquor License superior to any interest of Barnett by virtue of its landlord's lien pursuant to section 83.03, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1977). (R.190).

Barnett moved to dismiss the complaint. (R.221-223). On June 17, 1986, the court granted the motion as to Count I, the only count directed to Barnett. (R.231-232). On July 23, 1986, Flanigan filed an amended complaint (R.234-262) to which Barnett responded by filing a motion to dismiss. (R.265-268). On October 22, 1986, the court dismissed the amended complaint as to

Barnett and granted Flanigan leave to file a second amended complaint. (R.270).

On December 4, 1986, Flanigan filed a motion for stay of proceedings (R.272-273) which the Court granted on December 18, 1986. (R.274). The case remained stayed until January 27, 1988 when Flanigan filed a second amended complaint (R.276) to which Barnett responded by filing a motion to dismiss. (R.304-307). On June 15, 1988 the court dismissed the action as to Barnett, without prejudice. (R.308).

Flanigan filed a third amended complaint (R.309-334) to which Barnett responded by filing a motion to dismiss. (R.335-339). On October 12, 1988, the court entered an order deferring its ruling on the motion to dismiss and ordering Barnett to file an answer. (R.342). On October 31, 1988, Barnett filed its answer and affirmative defenses. (R.344-347).

On March 5, 1990, by stipulation of the parties (R.391), Flanigan filed its fourth amended complaint in which it added a cause of action against Barnett for violation of section 818.01, Florida Statutes (1983). (R.369-390). Barnett filed an answer and affirmative defenses to the fourth amended complaint on April 2, 1990. (R.394-399).

On October 2, 1990, Flanigan filed a motion for partial summary judgment against Barnett on the issue of liability on Count II of the fourth amended complaint (R.483-484) and a memorandum of law in support. (R.485-496). On October 3, 1990, Barnett filed a motion for final summary judgment. (R.499-506).

On April 23, 1991, the court entered its order on Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Defendant's Motion for Final Summary Judgment in favor of Flanigan on the issue of liability under Count II of the Fourth Amended Complaint. (R.540-544, A.Tab 1).

The parties entered into a pre-trial joint stipulation (R.570-575) and the case proceeded to

trial on Count II of the fourth amended complaint on the issue of damages and the defenses of estoppel, laches and waiver. (R.570).

The matter was tried non-jury on September 18 and 20, 1991, before the Honorable Lawrence R. Kirkwood. On October 11, 1991, the trial court entered final judgment in favor of Barnett (R.645) and made findings of fact. (R.641-643, A.Tab 2). The trial court found that Barnett had proven the affirmative defense of estoppel, but made an additional finding that Flanigan's damages could not exceed \$18,281.55. (R.641-643, A.Tab 2).

Flanigan filed a post-judgment motion in the alternative for rehearing or for amended findings of fact and conclusions of law, and to amend judgment accordingly on October 21, 1991 (R.648-653) which was denied on December 11, 1991 (R.659). On January 9, 1992, Flanigan filed an appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal seeking review of the trial court's final order denying it recovery based on its finding of estoppel. (R.660). Barnett filed a cross-appeal seeking review of the trial court's finding that it had violated s. 818.01. (R.664-665).

The District Court held that the record supported the trial court's conclusion that Flanigan was estopped from asserting its landlord's lien. The court further held that the written consent requirement of s. 818.01 has been impliedly repealed by the Uniform Commercial Code and, therefore, Barnett's actions could not subject it to liability under section 818.01. (A.Tab 3). In its opinion, the Court acknowledged conflict with decisions from the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal. (A.Tab 3).

This appeal was filed on April 5, 1993 and on December 28, 1993, this Court entered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Setting Oral Argument.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioner, Flanigan's Enterprises, Inc. f/k/a Castlewood International Corporation ("Flanigan"), as lessee, entered into a lease dated July 26, 1983 with Hyman Lake, as landlord, for rental of certain real property located in Orange County, Florida on South Orange Blossom Trail ("the Leased Premises") for the operation of a lounge known as "Big Daddy's." (R.125,571).

Flanigan operated the Big Daddy's lounge business until January 26, 1978 when it entered into a sublease agreement with Level III of Orlando, Inc. ("Level III") (R.125,571). Under the sublease, Level III took possession of the Leased Premises and continued the operation of a lounge business. (R.571). The sublease provided that upon default by Level III, Flanigan "shall have all the rights and remedies available at law to a landlord for breach of lease." (R.705, Ex.2). The prime lease which was incorporated into the sublease agreement granted Flanigan a first lien upon any liquor license and further provided that such lien was "in addition to the rights of a landlord given under the statutes of the state of Florida, which are now or might thereafter be in effect." (R.687, Ex.1). The term of the sublease commenced January 28, 1978 and was to expire June 30, 1999. (R.571).

In conjunction with the sublease agreement, Flanigan sold to Level III a 4-C0P liquor license, license number 58-312 (the "Liquor License" or "License"), as well as its furniture, fixtures, equipment, business goodwill and interest pertaining to the Leased Premises. (R.571). The sublease agreement granted Flanigan a security interest in the Liquor License. (R.704). Level III took possession of the Leased Premises on January 28, 1978 (R.571) and at that time, a landlord's lien arose in favor of Flanigan pursuant to section 83.08, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1977), which covered all property usually kept on the Leased Premises. (R.41, 45, 540). Level III operated a lounge business

on the Leased Premises until approximately July 14, 1984. (R.571). The Liquor License remained on the Leased Premises as required by section 561.23(2), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, from January 28, 1978 until approximately July 14, 1984. (R.571).

On April 8, 1983, Level III granted Barnett a security interest in the Liquor License as collateral for a loan made to a related corporation known as Naples Beverage Group, Inc. ("Naples Beverage"). (R.571-572).

It was Barnett's standard practice to request a landlord's lien waiver when making a loan to a borrower that leases its business premises. (R.74). In following its standard practice, Barnett required Naples Beverage to furnish Barnett with a landlord's lien waiver from Flanigan since part of the collateral for the loan would be located on the premises Flanigan sublet to Level III. (R.68). To comply with that requirement, Naples Beverage's attorney, Thomas R. Grady, mailed to Flanigan a waiver form and a letter dated April 25, 1983 requesting Flanigan to waive its landlord's lien. (R.129,720-721, Ex.5).

Flanigan responded to Mr. Grady's letter by letter dated May 4, 1983, in which it informed Mr. Grady, in part, that "Flanigan's does not wish to waive its landlord lien against the property at this location which is Flanigan's only security for timely payments of rent and other obligations under the sublease agreement." (R.129-130,725, Ex.7). Barnett's attorney, Joseph McMackin, was involved with the loan prior to the closing (R.78) and testified that Mr. Grady provided him copies of correspondence between Naples Beverage and Flanigan, and that it was reasonable to assume that he received a copy of Flanigan's letter. (R.107). In any event, McMackin admits that at the time of the loan closing, he was aware that Flanigan was the landlord (R.83) and that Flanigan refused to waive its landlord's lien. (R.572).

On or about December 12, 1983, Level III changed its name to Spirits Orlando South, Inc. (R.572) (for purposes of continuity, the corporate entity will be referred to as "Level III" throughout the brief).

On or about July 14, 1984, Level III closed its doors and ceased doing business at the Leased Premises. (R.572). Soon after closing, Level III surrendered the Liquor License to Barnett in partial consideration for its loan obligations to Barnett. (R.572).

On or about August 9, 1984, Barnett submitted to the Department of Business Regulation-Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco an application for an alcoholic beverage license together with a supporting affidavit in an effort to transfer the Liquor License from Level III to Barnett. (R.572). Barnett intended to hold the license in escrow until it could be sold as part of the liquidation of the collateral securing the loan obligations to Barnett. (R.572).

On or about August 15, 1984, Barnett began negotiations for the sale of the Liquor License to Hickory Point Industries, Inc. ("Hickory Point"). (R.572). Barnett and Hickory Point entered into an oral agreement on September 28, 1984 for the sale of the License. (R.91-92). At that time, Hickory Point escrowed \$11,000.00 (10 % of the purchase price) with Joseph McMackin's law firm, Quarles & Brady, P.A., as a statement of good faith and intention to purchase the License. (R.92). In order to close the sale, Barnett's attorney, McMackin, agreed with Hickory Point's representatives to meet in Orlando on October 10, 1984 to sign the written contract and go to the Department of Revenue and the Division of Alcoholic Beverages to begin the process of having the License transferred. (R.92).

In the meantime, Level III had failed to make rent payments to Flanigan under the sublease since May, 1984. (R.131,573). When Level III failed to pay any rent for four (4) consecutive

months, its account was turned over to Flanigan's general counsel, Jeffrey Kastner. (R.132). On or about September 5, 1984, Kastner forwarded to Level III a three (3) day notice and demand for payment or to vacate the premises. (R.132). Later, after learning that Level III had already vacated the premises, Kastner placed a telephone call to Level III's parent company, Collier County Enterprises, to inquire about the status of the Liquor License. (R.132-133). He was informed that Barnett had obtained the Liquor License and was provided Joseph McMackin's name and telephone number as Barnett's attorney. (R.132-133).

Kastner called McMackin on the telephone in early October, 1984. (R.183). By this time, Barnett had already agreed to sell the Liquor License to Hickory Point. (R.183). Kastner told McMackin that Flanigan was the landlord and that it had a claim against the License. (R.183). Kastner explained to McMackin that on page three, paragraph six of its sublease agreement with Level III, Flanigan reserved all rights and remedies available at law to a landlord for breach of a lease. (R.135). McMackin confirmed that Barnett possessed the License (R.133), but never divulged that Barnett was attempting to sell it. (R.137).

At trial, there was conflicting testimony from Mr. Kastner and Mr. McMackin as to the substance of the telephone conversation regarding the nature of Flanigan's interest in the Liquor License. Kastner and McMackin both testified that McMackin asked whether Flanigan had perfected its security interest pursuant to the requirements of Chapter 679, Florida Statutes. (R.94,133). Kastner conceded that Flanigan had failed to record its financing statements and that its security interest was unperfected. (R.94,133). Nevertheless, Kastner insisted that as a landlord, Flanigan had lien rights through the sublease agreement (R.133) and that even though it failed to record the UCC documents, Flanigan had "landlord rights." (R.133). Kastner never told McMackin

that Flanigan would subordinate, waive or relinquish any of its statutory landlord's lien rights. (R.106,136).

When Barnett closed its loan to Naples Beverage, McMackin considered the borrower's inability to obtain a landlord's lien waiver from Flanigan a serious problem with respect to the priority of Barnett's interest over Flanigan's interest in the inventory. (R.731,Ex.10). However, McMackin did not have the same concern with respect to the Liquor License since he did not believe it was subject to Flanigan's landlord's lien. (R.84-86). McMackin interpreted section 83.08, Florida Statutes, to provide a landlord with a lien on tangible personal property only, and was unaware of any case law holding that a statutory landlord's lien applied to a liquor license. (R.103-104).

When McMackin learned that Flanigan's financing statements had never been recorded, he concluded that Flanigan had no claim to the License since, in his words, "unfiled is unperfected." (R.100). Although he conceded that a landlord can have contemporaneously a security interest and a landlord's lien in the same collateral, it was his opinion that a landlord's lien could not encumber a liquor license. (R.103). Consequently, McMackin did not believe Flanigan had a claim to the Liquor License (R.105) and advised Barnett to sell it to Hickory Point. (R.100).

Had he been aware of case law holding that a landlord's lien applies to a liquor license, McMackin testified that he would have advised Barnett that it had a problem with the priority of its lien on the License, that it should not transfer the License to Hickory Point and would need to deal with Flanigan to work out any problems. (R.134).

When McMackin failed to call Kastner regarding Barnett's response to Flanigan's claim, Kastner placed numerous telephone calls to McMackin to determine the status of the Liquor License. (R.136). McMackin never returned any of Kastner's calls. (R.136).

After many telephone calls to Mr. McMackin went unreturned, Kastner wrote a letter to McMackin dated December 6, 1984 reasserting Flanigan's position that it had a "valid claim" to the License. (R.136, Ex.19). Unbeknownst to Flanigan, Barnett transferred the License to Hickory Point on January 10, 1985. (R.573). When McMackin failed to respond to his letter, Kastner wrote a letter dated February 5, 1985 to put the Division of Alcoholic Beverages & Tobacco on notice of Flanigan's claim. (R.136-137, Ex.21).

On May 14, 1985, Kastner wrote another letter to McMackin informing him that since he had failed to respond to earlier letters and telephone calls, he had no other choice than to inform the Division of Alcoholic Beverages & Tobacco about Flanigan's claim. (R.137, Ex.22).

McMackin never informed Kastner that he was trying to dispose of the License on behalf of Barnett or that he had located a buyer for the License and an agreement for its sale had been reached. (R.137). Kastner learned in April or May, 1985 that Barnett had sold the Liquor License. (R.137).

After Level III vacated and Barnett sold the Liquor License, Flanigan was unable to re-let the premises. (R.139). The building's design rendered it suitable only for the operation of a nightclub/lounge business, and Flanigan's inability to provide a liquor license to any prospective tenant greatly diminished its ability to re-let the premises. (R.139).

In the meantime, Flanigan continued to pay rent to the prime lessor, Hymen Lake. (R.131,573). By October 31, 1985, Level III owed Flanigan approximately \$156,000.00. (R.131,573).

The Liquor License had a fair market value of \$110,000.00. (R.95,574).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The points on appeal in this case are that (1) the appellate court erred in holding that the record sufficiently supports the trial court's conclusion that Flanigan was estopped from asserting its landlord's lien, (2) the appellate court erred in holding that s. 818.01, Florida Statutes (1983), affords no basis for recovery for Flanigan against Barnett because of the conflict that exists between sections 818.01 and 679.504(3), and (3) Flanigan is entitled to recover from Barnett the fair market value of the Liquor License.

The appellate court erred in holding that the record supports the trial court's conclusion that Flanigan was estopped from asserting its landlord's lien. The record, viewed in the light most favorable to Barnett, shows that Barnett did not change its position to its detriment in reliance on any representation or omission of Flanigan. Barnett's position changed in April of 1983 when it lent money to Naples Beverage and obtained a security interest inferior to Flanigan's landlord's lien. This change occurred well before Kastner first spoke to McMackin in early October of 1984.

Furthermore, after the loan default, Barnett recovered the License with the sole purpose of selling it to reduce the loan debt. Upon the default of its borrower, Barnett had always intended to obtain and sell the License. It is uncontroverted that Barnett searched for and located a buyer, and entered into an agreement for the sale of the License before Kastner contacted McMackin. Barnett's course of conduct was not altered or influenced by Kastner's comments to McMackin; therefore, Barnett could not show that it sold the License in reliance on any representation or ommission of Flanigan.

Moreover, any reliance McMackin may have placed on Kastner's failure to assert Flanigan's landlord's lien in precise terms during one telephone conversation was unreasonable. McMackin

knew that Flanigan had a landlord's lien that it was unwilling to waive, and he conceded that Kastner never agreed to relinquish or subordinate Flanigan's lien.

Additionally, the assertion of a security interest under Chapter 679, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, is not inconsistent with the assertion of a landlord's lien arising under section 83.08, <u>Florida Statutes</u>. One can enforce a security interest and later pursue rights under a landlord's lien because the interests are not inconsistent or mutually exclusive.

The appellate court erred further by holding that section 818.01 affords no basis for Flanigan to recover against Barnett because of the conflict that exists between sections 818.01 and 679.504(3). By its own terms, Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code, of which section 679.504(3) is a part, does not apply to landlord liens. Therefore, any conflict between the two statutes has no bearing on Flanigan's right to recover against Barnett for the loss of its right to enforce its landlord's lien.

Finally, Flanigan is entitled to recover from Barnett the fair market value of the Liquor License. Contrary to the trial court's ruling, Flanigan's damages should not be limited to \$18,281.55. The Court based its finding on the fact that at the time the Liquor License was removed from the leased premises, Level III owed Flanigan \$18,281.55 in rent. The trial court calculated damages based on the amount of rent due at the time Barnett seized the License. The court should have computed damages in the context of the commission of a tort thereby awarding Flanigan's those damages directly resulting from Barnett's action.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE RECORD SUFFICIENTLY SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S CONCLUSION THAT FLANIGAN WAS ESTOPPED FROM ASSERTING A LANDLORD'S LIEN ARISING UNDER SECTION 83.03, FLORIDA STATUTES (1977).

Flanigan sued Barnett to recover damages arising from Barnett's violation of section 818.01, Florida Statutes (1983), which provides, in pertinent part:

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