OA 4.7-94

FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FEB 16 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

FLANIGAN'S ENTERPRISES, INC. Petitioner,

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

vs.

CASE NO. 81,563 (DCA No. 92-104)

BARNETT BANK OF NAPLES, et al. Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FIFTH DISTRICT

Tucker H. Byrd, Esquire
Florida Bar No. 381632
WINDERWEEDLE, HAINES, WARD
& WOODMAN, P.A.
Post Office Box 1391
Orlando, Florida 32802-1391
(407) 423-4246
Attorneys for Barnett Bank of
Naples

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

The elements of an estoppel were proven by clear and convincing evidence at trial. The elements of an estoppel are:

(1) a representation as to a material fact that is contrary to a later-asserted position; (2) a reasonable reliance on that representation; and (3) a change in position detrimental to the party claiming the estoppel caused by the representation and reliance. The evidence adduced at trial clearly proved the elements of estoppel in that:

1. FLANIGAN'S made a representation to BARNETT BANK that was contrary to a later-asserted position by making a claim to

the Liquor License based upon an unperfected "security interest" which was clearly subordinate to BARNETT BANK'S security interest, and then later by making a claim in this lawsuit based upon a statutory landlord's lien arising under Chapter 83, Florida Statutes;

- 2. BARNETT BANK reasonably relied upon the representation by FLANIGAN'S general counsel that its claim to the Liquor License was based upon a "security interest" without ever mentioning a claim based upon a landlord's lien; and
- 3. BARNETT BANK changed its position to its detriment by disposing of the Liquor License after considering and rejecting FLANIGAN'S claim to the Liquor License based upon a "security interest," which BARNETT BANK correctly considered subordinate to the bank's interest.

Even if the Court finds BARNETT BANK violated §818.01 by disposing of the Liquor License, and finds that there is no competent evidence of an estoppel, FLANIGAN'S damages, if any, are still limited to the amount of rent owing at the time the Liquor License was removed from the leased premises.

ARGUMENT

This appeal presents an anomalous fact situation involving a creditors' priority contest between BARNETT BANK'S perfected security interest and FLANIGAN'S unrecorded landlord's lien on the Liquor License of Level III. This situation is unusual because FLANIGAN'S landlord's lien arose before the enactment of \$561.65(4), Florida Statutes, which since July 1, 1981, has required all liens or security interests to be recorded with the Division of Alcoholic Beverages in order to be enforceable. This section "grandfathered in" liens or security interests existing prior to that date. Section 561.65(1), F.S.

This Court accepted jurisdiction of this case under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) to review a decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal that §818.01, afforded no basis for civil or criminal liability against a secured creditor which disposes of collateral without the written consent of another lienor. The District Court expressly and directly acknowledged its decision conflicted with the decisions of Ford Motor Credit Company v. Hanus, 491 So.2d 570 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), and Littman v. Commercial Bank & Trust Company, 422 So.2d 636 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), concerning the issue of the applicability of §818.01.

Although the District Court acknowledged this conflict, its affirmance of the trial court's final judgment in favor of BARNETT BANK was principally based upon its finding that the record sufficiently supported the trial judge's conclusions that FLANIGAN'S was <u>estopped</u> from asserting a landlord's lien against

the Liquor License as a basis for liability under §818.01. However, the District Court then continued, addressing the issue of whether §818.01 even applied in situations regarding the sale of collateral by secured creditors, though the consideration of this issue was not essential to the ultimate ruling.¹

BARNETT BANK will address the issue concerning the applicability of §818.01 first since it is the basis for the conflict jurisdiction, then later address the issues of estoppel and damages.

I. THE APPELLATE COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT §818.01 AFFORDED FLANIGAN'S NO BASIS FOR RELIEF AGAINST BARNETT BANK'S FOR DISPOSING OF THE LIQUOR LICENSE.

The District Court found that §818.01 should not be applied in the context of sales of collateral by secured creditors because that statute conflicts with the provisions of the U.C.C. (e.g., §679.504(3)) and other similar statutes permitting the disposition of collateral. FLANIGAN'S, in its Initial Brief, acknowledged "679.504(3) cannot be reconciled with 818.01 in the context of sales of collateral." The District Court in reconciling this conflict found that §818.01 had been impliedly repealed by these

As BARNETT BANK previously pointed out in its Respondent's Brief on Jurisdiction, the District Court's decision did not rest upon the issue of the interplay between §818.01 and §679.504. Its resolution of this issue was superfluous to the outcome and may even be considered obiter dictum. Consequently, this Court could still relinquish its discretionary conflict jurisdiction. See The Florida Star v. B.J.F., 530 So.2d 286, 288 (Fla. 1988); Pinkerton-Hays Lumber Company v. Pope, 127 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1961); and State v. Speight, 417 So.2d 1168, 1169, n. 1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

other statutes governing the disposition of collateral by inferior or superior creditors.

The District Court correctly noted that if §818.01 applied to situations where inferior secured creditors disposed of collateral this would undermine the comprehensive collateral disposition rules of the U.C.C. For example, it has long been recognized in Florida that inferior secured creditors can dispose of collateral subject to superior security interests. See Coney v. First State Bank of Miami, 405 So.2d 257 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Noted authors White and Summers, in their treatise Uniform Commercial Code Third Edition, Vol. 2, p. 593, addressing the effect of sales of collateral by inferior secured creditors, have stated:

But suppose the senior secured party does not take over and control the foreclosure sale. Is his security interest similarly cut off by the sale? Here the answer is 'no', because the first sentence of 9-504(4) only discharges security interests subordinate to the interest of the foreclosing creditor. Thus the collateral is, in effect, always sold at such a foreclosure subject to any senior secured party claims. And, of course, if such claim is then known, this will affect the price which the purchaser pays at the sale.

Other states have recognized the rights of inferior secured creditors to dispose of collateral without recriminations from prior lien creditors. See Continental Bank v. Krebs, 184 Ill.App.3d 693, 133 Ill.Dec. 157, 540 N.E.2d 1023, 10 UCC2d 246 (1989); United States v. Cohoon, 11 UCC2d 316 (E.D.N.C. 1990); and Chadron Energy v. First National, 236 Neb. 173, 459 N.W.2d 718, 12 UCC2d 1183 (1990).

The conflict between §818.01 and the U.C.C. can be resolved using traditional rules of statutory construction. The general rule is "[w]hen statutory provisions are irreconcilable, . . . the general rule is that specific statutes on a subject take precedence over another statute covering the same subject in general terms." Littman, 425 So. 2d at 636. As the District Court noted, §818.01 is a very old statute which first appeared in 1893. The statute has remained basically intact since then other than a minor revision in 1971 when the prescribed punishment was increased to a first degree misdemeanor. In comparison, in 1965 the Florida Legislature adopted Florida's version of the Uniform Commercial establishing a comprehensive system for commercial transactions, including the rights to secured parties to dispose of collateral. Florida's U.C.C. underwent several major substantive changes in 1972, 1979, and 1989, and even more recently with respect to Articles 3 and 4, and none of these changes have impinged upon a secured creditor's basic right to dispose of collateral. Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude, as did the District Court, that the Legislature intended to keep the lien enforcement rights of secured creditors intact and impliedly repealed the restrictions of §818.01.²

² BARNETT BANK argued to the trial court and the District Court that §818.01 did not even apply to the disposition of intangible personal property, such a liquor license, because the language of the statute implies only tangible property is considered. Moreover, the cases finding a private cause of action under §818.01 only dealt with tangible personal property.

FLANIGAN'S mistakenly asserts that the conflict between §818.01 and the U.C.C. can be reconciled by realizing FLANIGAN'S interest arose by operation of law under §83.08 (landlord's lien), This argument completely which is not governed by the U.C.C. misapprehends the nature of the conflict here. BARNETT BANK is not asserting that FLANIGAN'S landlord's lien, if any, is governed by the U.C.C. Clearly, the U.C.C. excludes such liens from its field of operation; see §679.104 (2); and there are already clear rules establishing the lien priority as between non-U.C.C. landlord's liens and U.C.C. security interests. 3 Nor is BARNETT BANK suggesting that FLANIGAN'S could not have an enforceable landlord's lien in situations where a competing U.C.C. secured creditor holds lien rights. To the extent those landlord's lien rights exist, and have not already been waived or precluded by estoppel as was the case here, they are not denuded merely by limiting the application of §818.01.

FLANIGAN'S attempts to harmonize the application of §818.01 and the U.C.C. on Page 24 of its Initial Brief by suggesting that the Court apply §818.01 "only in cases involving non-consensual liens," which apparently means FLANIGAN'S wants the court to apply the statute to protect landlord's liens alone. However, FLANIGAN'S construction does not harmonize the conflict between §818.01 and the U.C.C. at all. It simply asks the court to

³ <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>G.M.C.A. Corporation v. Noni, Inc.</u>, 227 So.2d 891 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969); <u>Sachs v. Curry-Thomas Hardware</u>, 464 So.2d 597 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); and <u>United States v. S.K.A. Associates, Inc.</u>, 600 F.2d 513 (1979).

ignore the obvious conflict. Rather than giving a "field of operation" to both statutes, as FLANIGAN'S suggests, all this does is protect landlord's liens at the expense of destroying the secured creditor's lien enforcement rights, thereby exacerbating the effect of the conflict.

FLANIGAN'S argues that it is not "fair" to apply the provisions of the U.C.C. to adjudicate the rights of those possessing landlord's liens, but limiting the application of \$818.01 is not such an adjudication. The Fifth District's holding does not upset the balance of priorities between U.C.C. secured creditors and parties asserting landlord's liens which are already established by the common law's "first in time, first in right" approach. See n. 3, supra.

Furthermore, FLANIGAN'S argument that such a policy would "have a devastating effect on the rights of landlord lienholders" is exaggerated. Merely allowing a secured creditor to dispose of collateral encumbered by a landlord's lien does not automatically wipe out the lien as FLANIGAN'S submits. In those situations where a party holds a senior landlord's lien, the disposition of the collateral by a junior secured creditor would be <u>subject to</u> the senior landlord's lien, and the landlord could enforce its lien rights by a writ of distress, replevin, or foreclosure. It is only in those rare cases where there is an intervening bankruptcy that the landlord's lien is jeopardized, and that risk already exists in those situations when the collateral is never transferred or disposed of but the original tenant files for bankruptcy protection.

FLANIGAN'S would have the court believe that by limiting the application of the §818.01 there will be a glut of cases where inferior creditors cut off a landlord's lien rights by transferring collateral without the landlord's consent. This simply will not be the case as landlord's liens will be as protected as much as they ever were. The only really devastating effect will be if the rights of secured creditors to enforce lien rights are abrogated by an overly broad application of §818.01.

II. EVEN IF §818.01 APPLIES TO THE DISPOSITION OF COLLATERAL BY SECURED CREDITORS, THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION WAS STILL CORRECT BECAUSE FLANIGAN'S WAS ESTOPPED FROM ENFORCING ITS LANDLORD'S LIEN.

After a trial over two days during which FLANIGAN'S and BARNETT BANK presented evidence, the trial court entered its Findings of Fact, finding that BARNETT BANK had established by clear and convincing evidence that FLANIGAN'S was estopped from recovery because it failed to properly notify and timely assert a landlord's lien (R. 641). The bulk of FLANIGAN'S appeal attacks this finding.

It is a fundamental principle of appellate procedure that a decision or judgment of the trial court is presumed correct until reversible error has been shown by the party seeking review. Applegate v. Barnett Bank of Tallahassee, 377 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1979). The presumption of correctness is much more difficult to overcome when the decision being reviewed is based entirely upon a disputed issue of fact, and factual decisions will not be disturbed absent a showing that there is no competent evidence to support the decisions. Wales v. Wales, 422 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

This is because the trial court has the opportunity to "evaluate and weigh the testimony and evidence based upon [an] observation of the bearing, demeanor and credibility of the witnesses." Shaw v. Shaw, 334 So.2d 13, 16 (Fla. 1976), on remand 336 So.2d 1282 (1976). Further, an appellate court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. Id. Finally, the weight given evidence is the exclusive province of the trial court. Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1980), affirmed 457 U.S. 31, 102 S.Ct. 2211, 72 L.Ed.2d 652 (1982).

Applying a presumption of correctness, this court should affirm the District Court's decision because there is <u>substantial</u>, and perhaps overwhelming, competent evidence to support the finding of estoppel. Ironically, the trial court may have employed a more stringent standard in assessing the estoppel defense than was necessary. FLANIGAN'S asserted at trial that the evidentiary standard was "clear and convincing" (R. 588). The trial court adopted this standard, but the law in the Fifth District is that an estoppel may be shown by "clear and satisfactory" evidence. <u>See</u> Barber v. Hatch, 380 So.2d 536 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

Even applying the most stringent standard of proof required in a civil action, the trial court still found an estoppel existed. This was the same judge who, prior to receiving any evidence, had ruled on partial summary judgment that BARNETT BANK

⁴ The first headnote (Estoppel - 118) to the reported decision may have incorrectly summarized the opinion by reporting the proper standard of proof was "clear and convincing."

had violated §818.01, and was prepared to assess damages if the defenses were not proven.

A. FLANIGAN'S REPRESENTED A MATERIAL FACT THAT IS CONTRARY TO ITS LATER-ASSERTED POSITION BY MAKING A CLAIM TO THE LIQUOR LICENSE BASED UPON AN UNPERFECTED "SECURITY INTEREST" WHICH WAS CLEARLY SUBORDINATE TO BARNETT BANK'S SECURITY INTEREST, AND THEN LATER MAKING A CLAIM BASED UPON A STATUTORY LANDLORD'S LIEN.

Contrary to FLANIGAN'S current assertion, FLANIGAN'S represented a material fact that was inconsistent with its laterasserted position in this action. FLANIGAN'S goes to great lengths in its Initial Brief to argue that it had both a security interest and a landlord's lien on the Liquor License and that these positions are not inconsistent. However, the inconsistency is in the interest claimed by FLANIGAN'S in its dealings with BARNETT BANK.

One type of a recognized estoppel is that arising from a party's taking inconsistent positions with regard to a matter. This type of estoppel is often described as an election. The rule regarding such an estoppel is that, "[a] party cannot, either in the course of litigation or in dealings in pais, occupy inconsistent positions." 22 Florida Jur. 2d, Estoppel and Waiver, Section 48, P. 475. This type of estoppel is based upon equitable considerations. Id.

This situation is analogous to how parties' claims asserted in a pleading should be treated. For example, the positions of a party are "framed" when the case is at issue and ready for trial. Parties are not permitted to deviate from the issues pleaded, and if a party, for whatever reason, chooses not to

plead a particular claim or defense, it is waived. Just as FLANIGAN'S would not have been permitted to change its theory of the case the day of trial after BARNETT BANK had conducted its pretrial preparation, so too should FLANIGAN'S not be permitted to alter the "theory" of its claim made before the lawsuit was ever filed. Otherwise, BARNETT BANK will be equally prejudiced.

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